IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MAURICE PRUITT	APPELLANT
V.	NO. 2008-KA-1405-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. State of Mississippi
- 2. Maurice Pruitt, Appellant
- 3. Honorable Anthony J. Buckley, District Attorney
- 4. Honorable Billy Joe Landrum, Circuit Court Judge

This the 20 day of 4, 2009.

Respectfully Submitted,

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS

BY:

Benjamin A. Suber

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1

THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT, AS THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT PRUITT DID NOT ACT IN NECESSARY SELF-DEFENSE.

ISSUE NO. 2

THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE, WHICH ESTABLISHES THAT PRUITT ACTED IN NECESSARY SELF-DEFENSE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Jones County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for the crime of Manslaughter. Maurice Pruitt was sentenced to twenty (20) years in the custody of the Department of Corrections following a jury trial on April 2-3, 2008, Honorable Billy Joe Landrum, presiding. Pruitt is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

On or about July 2, 2007, David McMillian was killed outside the American Legion Hut (Hut) in Laurel, Mississippi. Tr. 117-121. The testimony of numerous witnesses at trial reflected that Maurice Pruitt shot McMillan. Pruitt himself even stated that he shot McMillan, but that he shot him out of self-defense because he was in fear for his life. Tr. 358.

According to the testimony of Melvin Sanders, a security guard at the American Legion Hut, stated that he witnessed Keitho Plummer (Keitho) and Pruitt in an argument in the parking lot outside the Hut. Tr. 265. Sanders continued that Keitho was fussing and Pruitt was just looking at him. Tr. 266. Sanders stepped in between Keitho and Pruitt. *Id.*

Sanders then was pushing McMillan back to the car and telling him to leave [Pruitt] alone because he had a gun. Tr. 266. Sanders tried to hold McMillan back twice. Tr. 276. Even though Sanders was holding McMillan, McMillan pushed Sanders and walked over to where Pruitt was standing. Tr. 267. When McMillan got over to where Pruitt was standing, Pruitt shot McMillan. *Id*.

Sanders then stated that Keitho was still fussing, and Pruitt then fired shots at Keitho.

Tr. 268-69. Pruitt then got into a dark colored SUV and left the parking lot of the Hut. Tr.

271.

Keitho's testimony was that when he left the Hut, Pruitt was standing by his vehicle right by the side door. Tr. 185. Keitho claimed that as he walked by Pruitt, Pruitt made a comment to Keitho to which Keitho responded. Tr. 187. At that point Keitho stated that Pruitt started to follow him. Tr. 187. At some point, McMillan asks Keitho what is going on and Keitho tells McMillan not to worry about anything. Tr. 192.

However, McMillan decided to go over and approach Pruitt. *Id.* Keitho stated that Pruitt was backing up to his car, while still looking at Keitho and McMillan. Tr. 192-93. As McMillan got over to where Pruitt was standing, Keitho saw Pruitt shoot McMillan. Tr. 193. Keitho stated that Pruitt then pointed the gun at him. Tr. 194. Keitho took off running. Tr. 195. Keitho ran behind a white Tahoe. Tr. 195. Keitho claimed that he ran around the white Tahoe four or five times while Pruitt was shooting at him. Tr. 196.

However, according to the testimony of Tyrone Pearson (Pearson), Terry McClendon (Terry) and Carl (Carl) McClendon, as the Hut was closing and they were getting ready to leave, decided to wait on Pruitt to come out of the Hut. Tr. 289. Pearson stated he saw Pruitt come out of the Hut and saw a few guys behind Pruitt. Tr. 291-292.

When Pruitt got to where Pearson, Terry, and Carl were waiting McMillan was talking to Pruitt. Tr. 292. Pruitt told McMillan to go on, we are family. *Id.* Pearson even said that he tried to talk to McMillan but he was ignored. *Id.* McMillan started saying, "I ain't never

liked this MF no way, and I'll show y'all what to do to an MF like this." Tr. 292-293. Pearson then stated that he approached McMillan and told him, "[w]e all just like family." Tr. 293. McMillan proclaimed "[w]hat the F family got to do with this." *Id.* Eventually McMillan turned away. *Id.*

When McMillan turned away, Keitho turned and went behind McMillan. *Id.* Pruitt standing behind Pearson told him to just move, that he had too much to lose. Tr. 293-294. Then McMillan started coming back toward Pearson and Pruitt at a fast motion. Tr. 294. Pearson testified that McMillan was carrying something in his hand. *Id.* The object was in his right hand beside his right thigh. Tr. 294-295. Pearson stated that he could see the left hand but could not see the right hand. Tr. 295.

Pearson attests that as McMillan was approaching, he stepped in front of McMillan to try to talk to him again. Tr. 296. McMillan using only his left hand, pushed Pearson to the side and then Pruitt shot McMillan less than two feet away. Tr. 296-97. The testimony of Terry McClendon was factually similar to Pearson's testimony. Tr. 315-323. C a r l McClendon's testimony was similar to Pearson's testimony also with a few minor additions. Tr. 323-336. In addition, Carl stated that after McMillan left Pruitt the first time, Carl noticed that all of the sudden McMillan went over to the car and bent down. Tr. Tr. 326-27. McMillan then started to come back and the security guard tried to stop him, but McMillan just walked past the security guard. Tr. 327. McMillan walked real fast with his right hand slightly behind his back to Pruitt. *Id.*

Pruitt testified before the court explaining what he perceived happened on the night in question. Pruitt stated when he left the Hut and walking towards his vehicle; he noticed Keitho was coming from the direction of the back door of the Hut. Tr. 347. As Keitho and Pruitt crossed paths, they both made a comment "what you looking at." *Id.*

Pruitt then walked toward his truck. *Id.* As Pruitt was nearly at his vehicle, he looked over his shoulder and saw Keitho and McMillan. Tr. 347-48. McMillan was talking loud and directing an argument toward Pruitt. Tr. 348. Keitho, McMillan, and two other guys walked over towards Pruitt. *Id.*

Pearson then stepped in and tried to prevent anything from happening. Tr. 349. McMillan turned and walked away. *Id.* Keitho and the two other guys walked away also. *Id.* However, McMillan, Keitho, and the other two guys were still "mouthing off." *Id.* McMillan was doing most of the talking. *Id.*

Pruitt saw McMillan open up the door of the car and reach down into the car. Tr. 349-50. McMillan then was walking fast toward Pruitt. Tr. 350-51. Pruitt noticed that Keitho had moved over beside a Tahoe. Tr. 350. McMillan was coming toward Pruitt with his right hand behind his thigh. *Id.* Pearson then stepped out in front of McMillan again and McMillan, with his left hand, moved Pearson out of the way. Tr. 351. Pruitt then states that he pulled his pistol and fired three times at McMillan. *Id.* Pruitt then saw Keitho come out from behind the Tahoe and then Pruitt fired shots at Keitho. *Id.*

After shooting at Keitho, Pruitt went back and stood behind his truck, then he heard two gunshots. Tr. 352. When Pruitt heard the gunshots, he jumped and dropped his gun.

Id. He then proceeded to get in the truck drove across the parking lot. Id. When Pruitt left the parking lot, he heard at least three or four bullets hitting his truck. Tr. 353.

Pruitt then went to Laurel Mayor Melvin Mack's house and told him that he had been involved in a shooting. Tr. 358. Pruitt then turned himself in to the authorities. *Id*.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Pruitt did not act in necessary self-defense when he shot McMillan. The evidence revealed that Pruitt and Keitho did not get along and were involved in prior violent incidents. Keitho and McMillan were together and both were arguing with Pruitt. McMillan was violent with the security guard, Sanders, and Pearson. Sanders told McMillan not to go back over to Pruitt's location. He also tried to stop McMillan two times, but McMillan just pushed through Sanders. Furthermore, once McMillan reached Pruitt, Pearson tried to stop McMillan and McMillan just threw Pearson out of the way en route to Pruitt. Pruitt was forced to make a decision to shoot McMillan because he was in fear that McMillan was going to cause imminent serious bodily injury to him. Accordingly, this Court should reverse Pruitt's convictions and sentence, and render a judgment of acquittal.

Alternatively, should this Court determine that the State presented sufficient evidence on the issue of self-defense, Pruitt contends that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The overwhelming weight of the evidence established that Pruitt shot McMillan in necessary self-defense. Therefore the Court should reverse Pruitt's conviction and sentence and remand this case for a new trial.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

ISSUE NO. 1

THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT, AS THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT PRUITT DID NOT ACT IN NECESSARY SELF-DEFENSE.

In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, the relevant inquiry is whether, "viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Bush v. State*, 895 So. 2d 836, 843 (Miss. 2005) (quoting *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 315, 99 S.Ct. 2781, (1979)). The verdict will not be disturbed where the evidence so reviewed is such that "reasonable fair-minded men in the exercise of impartial judgment might reach different conclusions on every element of the offense." *Id.* (citing *Edwards v. State*, 469 So. 2d 68, 70 (Miss.1985)). However, the proper remedy is to reverse and render where the evidence "point[s] in favor of the defendant on any element of the offense with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty[.]" *Id.*

"When self-defense is raised, the State bears the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was not acting in necessary self-defense." *Harris v.*State, 937 So.2d 474, 481 (¶23) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing *Heidel v. State*, 587 So.2d 835, 843 (Miss.1991)). Self-defense is addressed in Mississippi Code Annotated section 97-3-15(1)(f) (Rev.2006), which provides in pertinent part that:

"the killing of a human being . . . shall be justifiable . . . "[w]hen committed in the lawful defense of one's own person or any other human being, where there shall be reasonable ground to apprehend a design to commit a felony or to do some great personal injury, and there shall be imminent danger of such design being accomplished."

Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-15(1)(f). "The phrase 'reasonable ground to apprehend,' used in the statute, implies apparent danger." *Bell v. State*, 207 Miss. 518, 528, 42 So.2d 728, 731-32 (Miss. 1949) (citation omitted). The Mississippi Supreme Court defines "apparent danger" as "such overt demonstration, by conduct and acts, of a design to take life or do some great personal injury, as would make the killing reasonably apparently necessary to self-preservation or to escape great bodily harm." *Id.* (citation omitted). "[T]he danger need not be actual, but only reasonably apparent and imminent." *Id.* In the instant case, the evidence was such that no reasonable juror could find beyond a reasonable doubt that Pruitt did not have a reasonable apprehension of an imminent threat of great bodily harm when he shot McMillan.

Evidence was established that Pruitt and Keitho did not get along and had a previous violent encounter at the same location as this incident. Keitho testified that he shot at Pruitt at the very same location eleven years prior. Tr. 199. Also, around December 31, 2006, Keitho and Pruitt got into another altercation and Keitho showed and pulled a gun on Pruitt. Tr. 343. Therefore, Pruitt had pre-exiting reason to fear that Keitho and people with Keitho would again act in a manner likely to cause extreme bodily injury.

The evidence also showed that Keitho and especially McMillan were the aggressors.

All of the eye-witnesses testified that McMillan approached Pruitt. Tr. 192-93, 250, 267, 294,

318, 327, 350-51. Evidence was also presented that McMillan was violent with two other people before he even got to Pruitt. Sanders stated that he told McMillan not to go over to where Pruitt was and tried to hold McMillan back twice. Tr. 276. Even though Sanders was holding McMillan, McMillan pushed through Sanders and walked over to where Pruitt was standing. Tr. 267. Also, McMillan pushed Pearson out of the way with his left hand as he came storming back to Pruitt. Tr. 327.

Furthermore, evidence was presented that Pruitt was in fear for his life because. McMillan left the first argument with Pruitt and returned with his right hand behind his back. Tr. 350-51. Pruitt observed McMillan bend down and reach into a car. Tr 350. From Pruitt's point of view, it appeared that McMillan had picked up a weapon.

When McMillan came storming back over to where Pruitt was standing, McMillan had his right hand down by his side hiding his hand behind his back. Tr. Tr. 350-51. Pruitt under fear that McMillan might pull out a weapon and shoot him, Pruitt out of fear shot McMillan.

The point to be stressed, is that, in order for a killing to be justified based on self-defense, "it [is] not required of [the defendant] to prove that he acted in justifiable self-defense, but only that he raise a reasonable doubt of his guilt of the charge against him, unjustifiable homicide. The law authorizes action on reasonable appearances." *Scott v.*State, 203 Miss. 349, 354, 34 So. 2d 718, 719 (Miss. 1948) (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

The evidence in the instant case easily raises a reasonable doubt as to Pruitt's guilt of the charge of unjustifiable homicide; that is all the law requires for a killing to be justified as self-defense. The evidence points in favor of Pruitt on the element of self-defense with significant force, such that a reasonable jury could not have found that Pruitt was guilty of murder beyond a reasonable doubt.

Accordingly, the evidence is insufficient to support Pruitt's conviction and sentence for manslaughter. Therefore, the trial court erred in denying Pruitt's motion for new trial, and this Court should reverse Pruitt's conviction and sentence and render a judgement of acquittal.

ISSUE NO. 2

THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE, WHICH ESTABLISHES THAT PRUITT ACTED IN NECESSARY SELF-DEFENSE.

Should this Court reject Pruitt's contention that the State presented insufficient evidence to support Pruitt's conviction for manslaughter, Pruitt asserts, in the alternative, that such a finding was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

In reviewing a challenge to the weight of the evidence, the verdict will be only be disturbed "when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." *Bush v. State*, 895 So. 2d 836, 844 (Miss. 2005). The evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict. *Id.* (citing *Herring v. State*, 691 So. 2d 948, 957 (Miss.1997)). This Court "sits as a hypothetical thirteenth juror." *Lamar v. State*, 983 So. 2d 364, 367 (¶5) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (citing

Bush, 895 So. 2d at 844 (¶18)). "If, in this position, the Court disagrees with the verdict of the jury, 'the proper remedy is to grant a new trial." *Id*. In the instant case, the overwhelming weight of the evidence established that Pruitt shot McMillan in necessary self-defense.

As explained above in the argument pertaining to the sufficiency of the evidence, the evidence established that Pruitt and Keitho had previous violent encounters. It is undisputed that on the night this incident occurred; McMillan, who was with Keitho, approached Pruitt. Pruitt, Pearson, Terry, and Carl all saw McMillan walking fast back toward Pruitt with his right hand hiding behind his thigh as if he had a weapon. Pruitt had imminent fear that McMillan was going to pull out a weapon and endanger his life. Therefore, the weight of the evidence showed that Pruitt had reasonable grounds to apprehend an imminent danger of great bodily injury if he did not shoot McMillan.

In light of the above-detailed evidence, the verdict reached in the instant case is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. Therefore, the trial court erred in denying Pruitt's motion for a new trial, and this Court should reverse Pruitt's conviction and remand this case for a new trial.

CONCLUSION

Maurice Pruitt is entitled to have his manslaughter conviction reversed and rendered or in the alternative, reversed and remanded for a new trial.