IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MAURICE PRUITT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

NO. 2008-KA-1405-SCT

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT12
ARGUMENT
PRUITT HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THE TRIAL JUDGE ABUSED HIS JUDICIAL DISCRETION IN OVERRULING HIS MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL GROUNDED, IN PART, ON A CLAIM THE JURY VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE VERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.
THE REASONABLENESS OF THE DEFENDANT'S APPREHENSION WAS A QUESTION FOR THE JURY AND NOT FOR THE REVIEWING COURT.
AFFIRMATION OF THE JURY'S VERDICT WOULD NOT SANCTION AN UNCONSCIONABLE INJUSTICE
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

.

FEDERAL CASES

Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 315, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979	Jackson v. Virgin	ia, 443 U.S. 307, 3	15, 99 S.Ct. 2781,	61 L.Ed.2d 560 (197	9
---	-------------------	---------------------	--------------------	---------------------	---

STATE CASES

Dycus v. State, 875 So.2d 140, 164 (Miss. 2004) 20
Edwards v. State, 469 So.2d 68, 70 (Miss. 1985)
Gibby v. State, 744 So.2d 244, 245 (Miss. 1999)
Amiker v. Drugs for Less, Inc, 796 So.2d 942, 947 (Miss. 2000)
Anderson v. State, 904 So.2d 973 (Miss. 2004)
Bright v. State, 349 So.2d 503 (Miss. 1977) 20
Brown v. State, 556 So.2d 338 (Miss. 1990)
Bullock v. State, 391 So.2d 601 (Miss. 1980) 21
Bush v. State, 895 So.2d 836, 843 (Miss. 2005) 21, 23-25
Byrd v. State, 522 So.2d 756, 760 (Miss. 1988)
Carr v. State, 208 So.2d 886, 889 (Miss. 1968)
Chambliss v. State, 919 So.2d 30, 33-34 (Miss. 2005)24
Clemons v. State, 460 So.2d 835 (Miss. 1984) 21
Cooley v. State, 391 So.2d 614, 616-17 (Miss.1980)
Davis v. State, 530 So.2d 694 (Miss. 1988)
Ellis v. State, 667 So.2d 599, 612 (Miss. 1995) 20
Evans v. State, 44 Miss. 762, 773 (1871)
Forbes v. State, 437 So.2d 59 (Miss. 1983)

	Franklin v. State, 676 So.2d 287, 288 (Miss. 1996) 20
	Groseclose v. State, 440 So.297, 300 (Miss. 1983)
	Groseclose v. State, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1983)25
	Hall v. State, 644 So.2d 1223, 1229-30 (Miss. 1994)17
	Herring v. State, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997)
	Holloman v. State, 656 So.2d 1134, 1142 (Miss. 1995)
	Hubbard v. State, 819 So.2d 1192 (Miss. 2001)
	James v. State, 139 Miss. 521, 524, 104 So. 301, 302 (1925)
	Johnson v. State, 723 So.2d 1205 (Ct.App.Miss. 1998)
	Jones v. State, 904 So.2d 149, 153-54 (Miss. 2005)
	Lanier v. State, 684 So.2d 93 (Miss. 1996)12
	Lynch v. State, 877 So.2d 1254 (Miss. 2004)
	Maiben v. State, 405 So.2d 87, 88 (Miss. 1981)13, 25
	May v. State, 460 So.2d 778, 781 (Miss. 1984)
	McClain v. State, 625 So.2d 774, 781 (Miss. 1993)23
	McQueen v. State, 423 So.2d 800, 803 (Miss. 1982)
	Mitchell v. State, 572 So.2d 865, 867 (Miss. 1990)23, 25
	Molphus v. State, 124 Miss. 584, 598, 87 So. 133, 135 (1921)
	Pearson v. State, 428 So.2d 1361, 1364 (Miss. 1983)
	Rainer v. State, 473 So.2d 172, 173 (Miss. 1985)
· .	Reed v. State, 197 So.2d 811, 814 (Miss. 1967)19
	Robinson v. State, 434 So.2d 206, 207 (Miss. 1983)
	Rush v. State, 278 So.2d 456, 459 (Miss. 1973) 16-18

•

•

iii

.

Shinall v. State, 199 So.2d 251, 259 (Miss. 1967) 16, 17
Sloan v. State, 368 So.2d 228 (Miss. 1979)
Smith v. State, 754 So.2d 1159 (Miss. 2000)17
Stewart v. State, 986 So.2d 304 (Miss. 2008) 16, 20, 21
Wetz v. State, 503 So.2d 830, 868-68 (Miss. 1987) 20
Yarber v. State, 230 Miss. 746, 93 So.2d 851, 852 (1957)18
Yates v. State, 685 So.2d 715, 718 (Miss. 1996) 16, 20
Young v. State, 962 So.2d 110, 116 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007) 20
STATE STATUTES

•

••

Miss.Code Ann. §97-3-35	, 	12	2
-------------------------	-------	----	---

,

.

.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MAURICE PRUITT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

NO. 2008-KA-1405-SCT

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The focal point in this appeal is the strength and sufficiency of the evidence used to convict Maurice Pruitt of manslaughter in the wake of his indictment for murder

after Pruitt killed David McMillan by shooting him three (3) times with a .9 mm handgun.

Pruitt, who testified in his own behalf, claimed he shot McMillan in self-defense after Pruitt, McMillan, and another man, Keitho Plummer, exchanged verbal unpleasantries and McMillan approached Pruitt with his right hand behind his thigh. (R. 350-51, 361-62)

Testimony from others reflected that McMillan was unarmed and attempting to act as a peacemaker between Pruitt and Plummer who were old antagonists.

The jury, in the wake of proper instructions (C.P. at 95, 97, 99), rejected Pruitt's claim of self-defense and found him guilty of manslaughter.

Pruitt claims the evidence was insufficient to support the jury's verdict but, even if not, the verdict of the jury was at least against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

1

We submit, on the other hand, the reasonableness of Pruitt's apprehension was a jury issue decided adversely to him in the wake of conflicting testimony and generous jury instructions explaining Pruitt's right to self-defense. *See* jury instructions D-9 and D-10 at C.P. 40-41 attached as appellee' exhibits <u>A</u> and <u>B</u>.

A reasonable, hypothetical juror could have found that Pruitt shot McMillan in a heat of passion, if not with a deliberate design, during an exchange of verbal unpleasantries while McMillan was seeking to defuse an argument between Pruitt and Keitho Plummer. (R. 316-17, 325-26) Although Pruitt claimed he was scared of what McMillan might do, the reasonableness of his apprehension, both during and following the exchange of words, was a question for the jury and not for a reviewing court acting as a limited thirteenth juror.

Affirmation of the guilty verdict returned would not work an unconscionable injustice.

MAURICE PRUITT prosecutes a criminal appeal from the Circuit Court of Jones County, Mississippi, Billy Joe Landrum, Circuit Judge, presiding.

Pruitt is a thirty-four (34) year old African-American male with two years of college. He is a married resident of Laurel and is self-employed as an automobile mechanic (R. 340-41; C.P. at 72, 107)

Pruitt, following a two count indictment returned on September 12, 2007, for murder (Count I) and aggravated assault (Count II), was convicted on April 3, 2008, of manslaughter and acquitted of aggravated assault.

The indictment, omitting its formal parts, alleged in Count I

"[t]hat **MAURICE PRUITT** . . . on or about the 2^{nd} day of July, 2007, . . . did willfully, unlawfully and feloniously, with the deliberate design to effect the death of David McMillan, did kill and murder David McMillan, a human being, without authority of law and not in necessary self defense, by shooting David McMillan with a gun

..."

The indictment charged in Count II that

"... as part of a common plan or scheme or as part of the same transaction or occurrence, [Pruitt]... on or about the 2^{nd} day of July, 2007... did purposely, knowingly or feloniously attempt to cause bodily injury to another, Keitho Plummer, with a gun, a deadly weapon, by attempting to shoot Keitho Plummer,

said act[s] constituting the crimes of Murder and Aggravated Assault, and contrary to form of the statute, in violation of Mississippi Code Annotated (1972) Section 97-3-19(1)(a) and 97-3-7(2)(b) . . ." (C.P. at 3)

Following a trial by jury conducted on April 2-3, 2008, the fact finder returned dual verdicts

of guilty of manslaughter and not guilty of aggravated assault. (R. 429-30; C.P. at 69-70)

Two (2) issues are raised on appeal to this Court:

"The evidence was insufficient to support the verdict, as the State failed to prove beyond a

reasonable doubt that Pruitt did not act in necessary self-defense."

"The verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence which established that

Pruitt acted in necessary self-defense." (Brief of the Appellant at ii, 1, 7, and 10)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Around midnight on July 2, 2007, a shootout took place at closing time at the American Legion hut in Laurel, Mississippi. (R. 344-45) According to Maurice Pruitt, this was not the first time the parking lot of the American Legion hut had become a battle ground involving the same armed combatants. (R. 341-44)

During a habeas corpus hearing conducted eight (8) months prior to trial (R. 2-36), testimony was presented that Pruitt was the father of 26 children by eighteen (18) different mothers and that he had been arrested a number of times for domestic abuse. (R. 17-18, 25) Pruitt was not suppose

to be in possession of a firearm. (R. 7-9, 11-14)

Nevertheless, on the night of July 2, 2007, Pruitt had in his possession a .9 mm handgun which he used to shoot David McMillan three times as McMillan was "... coming and he was looking real mean at me." Pruitt testified McMillan was not smiling as he approached and thought McMillan had a gun. (R. 359, 363, 370)

He did not.

Pruitt's version of the shooting of McMillan is found in the following colloquy:

Q. All right. What happened next?

A. [David McMillan, Keitho, and two other guys] was standing over there still mouthing off. I don't know what they were saying. Mouthing on. David is doing most of the talking, David is. That's who I saw doing most of the talking. And I was looking over there. I kept looking, watching them, seeing what they were doing. And at that time I saw the passenger door of the car. He walk around to the passenger door of the car and opened it up.

Q. Who did?

A. David. David walked around to the passenger door of the car, and he opened the door up. When he opened the door up he reach in the car. He reached down.

Q. You're bending over and reaching out with your right hand?

A. Yeah, he reached into the car. And he stood back up, and he said - - I don't know what he said. He turned around. He said something. I don't know what he said. And David opened the door, the door be like that. David came away from around the car door and came there with his back toward me. And Keitho was standing by the passenger door too. He walked around to the back side of the car.

Q. Back by the wood line there?

A. Yes, trying to get around to the other side of the car or something. I don't know. And when I saw David coming toward him, I like to find Keitho. And by the time he had appeared. A white Tahoe sitting - -

Q. Put a T for Tahoe. Where was it?

A. Right there. There was a White Tahoe sitting there. So I lost sight of Keitho. And I looked back and David. He was about right there. He was right up on me. And when Tyrone [Pearson] stepped out, David, he come in with his hand behind his thigh.

Q. Which hand?

A. His right hand.

Q. Was he walking fast or slow?

A. Fast.

Q. All right. Could you see his left hand?

A. Yes, it was swinging.

Q. Okay. What happened next?

A. When Tyrone stepped out and tried to stop him, he took his left hand and moved Tyrone out of the way. And that's when I drew my weapon and fired.

Q. How many times did you fire?

A. Three times.

Q. Was there any hesitation between shots.

A. No, there were not I don't know. I started shooting. Before I even got the gun up I was shooting. I started shooting.

Q. What happened next?

A. After I shot - - when I shot David I stepped out from the vehicles, and saw Keitho come away from around the Tahoe.

Q. Around the back of the Tahoe?

A. Yes, sir. And that's when I fired at Keitho.

Q. How many times did you fire? Do you remember?

A. About three or four times.

Q. What, if any, time did you leave the parking lot, the gravel part of the parking lot, when you were firing?

A. When I was firing?

Q. Yes, firing the weapon.

A. I didn't. I stayed in the gravel.

Q. Now what did you do after you fired at Keitho?

A. After I fired at Keitho, that's when I went back and stood behind my truck. That's when I left out the gravel. I went behind my truck. And I heard gunshots.

Q. Wait now. You heard gunshots?

A. Yes.

Q. How many?

A. At least two. At least two gunshots.

Q. Okay.

A. And I jumped. I was standing back there. I had my gun. And when I heard the gunshots, I dropped my gun. I jumped in the truck, and went across the parking lot here. I went across the parking lot. And I had my windows open, so I heard something hitting my truck. (R. 349-52)

During cross-examination the following colloquy took place:

Q. [BY ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY:] Well, let's try to clear up a couple of things. Number one, you shot and killed David McMillan on July 2^{nd} , did you not?

A. I shot David McMillan.

Q. And killed him?

A. That's what happened.

Q. Pardon?

A. I guess that's what happened with the gunshot wounds. I guess, yeah.

Q. You guess.

A. I shot him. I shot David.

Q. And after you shot and killed David McMillan, you took the same weapon and fired it at Keitho Plummer, did you not?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now when you shot David McMillan, you shot him three times, did you not?

A. I don't know how many times I had shot him. I fired the weapon at him three times.

Q. Pardon?

A. I fired the weapon at him three times. I don't know how many times I shot him because I told you I thought I had shot in the ground.

Q. You thought you shot in the ground?

A. Yes, sir, because I was about nervous. And when I looked and he was there, I was raising my arm up.

Q. Raising your arm up. You saw him fall there in front of you?

A. Yes, sir. He fell after the gunshots.

Q. Correct.

A. He fell after the gunshots.

Q. Did you see the blood coming out of him?

A. No, sir.

Q. Did you see any blood?

A. No, sir.

Q. Well as soon as you shot him, you had the presence of mind to shoot at Keitho Plummer, did you not?

A. After David got shot, after I shot David I, immediately I looked to see where Keitho was. I seen him step out from behind the truck. And that's when I fired at Keitho.

Q. As soon as he stepped out from behind the truck, it's like that?

A. I thought he had a gun.

Q. Just like you thought David had a gun?

A. He had something stuck behind his leg coming at me. Otherwise, it would have been swinging like the other one. He was coming and he was looking real mean at me.

Q. Looking mean at you.

A. He wasn't smiling when he was coming.

Q. So you shot him?

A. He had his hand behind his leg like he had a gun. I believe he had a gun. I didn't see a gun but I believed he had a gun. (R. 362-63)

Pruitt, who admitted he had in his hand a .9 millimeter pistol that night (R. 360-61), testified the clip later fell out of the pistol after he inadvertently mashed the button. (R. 353, 360-61) When Pruitt bent down to retrieve it he heard two gunshots and dropped his pistol in the parking lot where he allegedly abandoned it. (R. 353, 361) Pruitt left the scene in his green Chevrolet Tahoe Suburban (R. 354) - he was driving with a suspended license (R. 345-46) - and the pistol was never found.

The two bullets that killed McMillan were identified as having been fired by a .9 mm handgun. Seven (7) .9 mm shell casings were found at the scene of the shooting along the skirmish

line near a dumpster. (R. 138-40, 145-46, 156-57, 173) The magazine clip found on the ground in close proximity to the shell casings was identified as a .9 mm clip. Pruitt's pistol, which he admittedly used to shoot McMillan, was not recovered.

Melvin Mack, mayor of Laurel, testified that the night of the shooting Maurice Pruitt came to his house during the early morning hours and told Mack he had shot a man. Mayor Mack gave a statement to law enforcement authorities. We quote:

Q. [BY ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY:] What does the last sentence of that statement say that you said under oath?

A. Mr. Pruitt told me that the man he shot did not have a gun. (R. 178) See also R. 219.

Based on the above testimony, the jury benevolently acquitted Pruitt of the aggravated assault charge against Keitho Plummer and convicted Pruitt of the lesser offense of manslaughter for killing David McMillan.

As is usually the situation in cases of this nature, David McMillan was unarmed. Not a single witness placed a gun in McMillan's hand at the time he was shot.

Nine (9) witnesses testified on behalf of the State during its case-in-chief, including **Melvin Sanders**, a security officer and ear and eyewitness to the incident.

Sanders observed Pruitt holding a black handgun while arguing with Keitho Plummer. (R. 265, 275) Enter McMillan who was unarmed. (R. 267) Sanders told McMillan not to intervene because Pruitt had a gun, and it was Sanders's job to "keep everything calm." (R. 267)

McMillan pushed Sanders aside and slowly approached Pruitt and Plummer with both hands down by his side. (R. 276) Sanders observed Pruitt shoot McMillan in the chest two or three times. (R. 267) Pruitt then fired three shots toward Sanders. (R. 268-69) "He was shooting at Keitho [Plummer]." (R. 269) Keitho Plummer described the incident as follows:

Q.[BY ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY:] [Pruitt] was never turned around? He was backing up so he was facing you [Plummer] the whole time?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.

A. [BY PLUMMER:] So David [McMillan] walked to Maurice Pruitt with his arms open because he already - - well, he walked to him with his arms open.

Q. Did he say anything, as he walked towards Maurice Pruitt with his arms opened, to Maurice Pruitt?

A. He was telling him that he wanted to talk to him. He just wanted to find out what was going - - he was asking him, hey, man, what's going on over there.

Q. What happened then, if anything?

A. Maurice Pruitt pulled out his gun and just started shooting David.

Q. All right. Did you see him pull out a gun?

A. Yes.

Q. Where did he pull out a gun from?

A. From his side. (R. 193)

According to Plummer, who was also unarmed, Pruitt began chasing Plummer and shooting

at Plummer repeatedly. (R. 196-97) Plummer sought refuge behind a white Tahoe and eventually

"... ran out across the parking lot zigzagging trying to get to my vehicle or just get away really."

(R. 196)

Fortunately Plummer made it safely to his motor vehicle. (R. 197)

Dr. Steven Hayne, the State's pathologist, conducted the post-mortem examination on David

McMillan. Dr. Hayne testified that two gunshot wounds out of the three entrance wounds produced McMillan's death. (R. 222-23)

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